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Introduction

"Holmes,"” I said, as I stood one morning at the window,
looking down Baker Street, "here is a madman coming. It seems
rather sad that his relatives allow him to go out alone".

All kinds of people visit Sherlock Holmes with their problems,
and some of them are on the edge of madness when they arrive at
221b Baker Street. But Sherlock Holmes is a great detective. There
are few cases that he cannot solve. Fortunately, too, his friend Dr
Watson 1s with him, taking notes. These are Dr Watson's stories.

In "The Speckled Band", Holmes's visitor is a very frightened
young woman. I'wo years earlier, and only two weeks before her
marriage, the young woman's twin sister died suddenly and
mysteriously. Her last words were: "It was the band! The speckled

band!" Now Holmes's visitor also plans to marry, and strangely
similar events are happening 1n her home. Will Sherlock Holmes be
able to solve the puzzle 1n time to save her life?

In the second story, five orange pips, the seeds of the fruit, are
sent to John Openshaw's uncle. Soon, the old man is dead. Then pips
are sent to other members of the family. Who are they from? What do
they mean? And will the deaths continue?

Holmes's visitor to Baker Street in the third story is a very
successful banker. Diamonds have been stolen from him, and to his
hotror he believes that he knows the thief. But is he right? The banker

hopes that Holmes can disprove his worst fears.

Arthur Conan Doyle's readers first met Sherlock Holmes in
"A Study in Scarlet", which appeared as a book in 1888. In the late
nineteenth century, for the first time, most of the population of
England could read, and there was a great demand for entertaining
fiction.
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Before he became a writer, Conan Doyle studied medicine, and
much of the character of Sherlock Holmes is taken from one of his
teachers, Joseph Bell. When patients came to see him, Bell often told
them about their jobs, their habits and perhaps their illnesses before
they said a word. He taught his students the importance of small
details. This 1s one of the skills of the great detective. Sherlock
Holmes i1s more interested in the activities of his brain than in human
emotion. He shows no interest in women, and his only friend is Dr

Watson. He is often very cold.

The reading public did not seem to notice Holmes's faults. When
stories about him appeared in the Strand magazine, he quickly
became famous, and the magazine sold more copies than it had ever
sold before. The three stories in this book were first printed in the
Strand, and then appeared together in one book as "The Adventures

of Sherlock Holmes" 1n 1892.

Conan Doyle was making money, but he wanted people to think
of him as a serious writer. He wanted to write other kinds of books. So
when he agreed to write a second group of stories for the Strand, he
decided that his detective had to die. The last story ends with Holmes
in Switzerland, in a temmble fight with his greatest enemy, Moriarty.
When Watson arrives, both men have disappeared. They have, 1t
seems, fallen together to their deaths.

This was not the end, of course. Conan Doyle was offered large
amounts of money to write more stories about Sherlock Holmes. The
result was the third full-length Holmes book, "The Hound of the
Baskervilles”. However, this story takes place some time before the
fight in Switzerland. Holmes's return to life came in 1903, when an
American company offered the enormous sum of 25.000 dollars for
six stories. Conan Doyle could not refuse, and Holmes returned to
Baker Street - to the great shock of Dr Watson. It seemed that only
Mornarty had died at the Falls, but Holmes had spent the next two
years travelling because other men also wanted to kill him.

4
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This did not make much sense. But readers did not care. Their hero
was back, and nothing else mattered. After this third group of
~ adventures, there were two more collections of stories and a final
book about Sherlock Holmes, ""The Sign of Four".

Arthur Conan Doyle was one of ten children, bomn in to an Irish
family in Edinburgh in 1859. His father, Charles Doyle, was an artist,
but he drank too much and life was difficult. Young Arthur was sent
away to a Catholic school in the north of England, and did not often

see his father.

In 1876 he returned to Edinburgh to study medicine, but by 1890
he had stopped practising medicine and become a full-time writer.
Conan Doyle died in 1930 but, like Moriarty, he had not been able to
kill Sherlock Holmes. Even today, people write to the Baker Street
address (now a bank), asking for the help and advice of the
greatdetective. Sherlock Holmes never lived, but he refused to die
- and, to his readers, he i1s still alive today.
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The Speckled Band

During the past eight years I have watched my friend Sherlock
Holmes at work on more than seventy cases. The most unusual is the
case connected with the well-known Surrey family, the Roylotts of
Stoke Moran. The events there happened not long after I first met
Holmes, before my marriage, when we were sharing rooms 1in Baker

Street.

Early in April 1883 I woke one morning and found Sherlock

Holmes standing, fully dressed, by the side of my bed. He normally
got up quite late, but the clock showed that it was only a quarter past
seven, so 1 looked up at him 1n some surprise.

"What 1s 1t? | asked, "A fire?"

"No. A young lady has arrived in a great state of excitement, and
wants to see me. When young ladies visit people at this early hour, I
imagine that they want to talk about something very important. If this
becomes an interesting case, you may want to follow it from the
beginning. So I thought that I should call you."

"My dear Holmes, I would not miss it for anything."

My greatest pleasure was to help Holmes in his detective work,
and so I quickly put on my clothes and followed him down to the

sitting-room.

A lady dressed in black, wearing a thick veil, was sitting by the
window. She stood up as we came in to the room.

- "Good moming, madam," said Holmes cheerfully. "My name is

Sherlock Holmes. This is my friend Dr Watson, Ah, I am glad that
Mrs. Hudson has had the good sense to light the fire. Please come and
sit beside 1t and I shall order you a cup of coffee. [ can see that you are
shaking."

8
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"It is not the cold that makes me shake" said the woman quietly,
changing her seat as Holmes suggested.

"What, then?"

"It 1s fear, Mr Holmes. It is terror!” She lifted her vell as she
spoke. Her face was pale and her eyes were frightened, like the eyes
of a hunted animal. She looked about thirty years old, but her hair was

quite gray.
"You must not be afraid," Sherlock Holmes said gently, bending

forward to touch her arm, "We shall soon be able to help, I have no
doubt. You have come in by train this moming. I see.”

"You know me?"

"No, but I can see the second half of a return ticket just inside
your left glove."”

"Yes, I left home before six and came in by the first train to
Waterloo. Sir, 1 shall go mad if it continues. Only one person cares
about me, and he, poor man, cannot help.

"l have heard of you, Mr Holmes, form Mrs Farintosh. You gave
her help when she needed it. Oh sir, do you think that you could help
me too? At the moment I cannot pay you for your services, but in a
month or two I shall be married, and I shall have my own money."

Holmes turned to his desk and, unlocking it, took out a small
notebook. He studied this for a moment.

"Farintosh," he said. "Ah, yes. I remember the case. It was about
some jewellery. I think it was before your time, Watson. I can only
say, madam, that I shall be happy to give you my attention. My
profession brings its own rewards. You may, though, pay my costs
when you are able to. And now please tell us what your problem is."

10
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"Oh dear!" our visitor replied. "The most terrible thing about my
situation 1s the facts seem so small and so unimportant, [ have talked
about this to the one man that I can call a friend. Even he thinks that it
is all justin the imagination of a nervous woman. He does not say so,
but I know this from the way he speaks and looks at me. But I have
heard, Mr Holmes, that you can see into the human heart. You can

advise me how to walk among the dangers that surround me.

"My name is Helen Stoner, and I am living with my stepfather.
He is the last of one of the oldest Saxon families in England, the

Roylotts of Stoke Moran, on the western border of Surrey.”

"Yes," Holmes said, "I have heard the name."

"The family was once the richest in England, with very large
amounts of land. In the last century, however, four oldest sons, one
after another, wasted the fortunes of the family. Now there is nothing
left except a small piece of land and the 200-year- old house, and a lot

of money 1s still owed.

"The present oldest son, my stepfather, borrowed money from a
relative, which allowed him to study medicine. When he became a
doctor he went out to Calcutta, where he was very successful.

"However, one day some money was stolen from his house. He
blamed one of his servants, and in an angry temper beat him hard until
he died. He was sent to prison for many years, and afterwards retumed
to England, a very sad and angry man.

"When Dr Roylott was in India, he married my mother, Mrs.
Stoner. Her first husband, an army officer, had died, My sister Julia
and I were twins. And we were only two years old at the time of my
mother's remarriage. She had quite a lot of money, not less than a
thousand pounds a year, and this became Dr Roylott's while we lived
with him. However, she also ordered that quite a large amount of
money should be ours if we got married.
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"A short time after our return to England, my mother died in a

railway accident near Crewe, Dr Roylott then stopped working as a
doctor in London and took us to live with him in the family home at

Stoke Moran. My mother's money was enough for all our needs, and
there seemed no reason for us not to live happily.

"But our stepfather changed at about this time. Our neighbours
were at first very happy to see a Roylott of Stoke Moran back in the

old house, but he shut himself away. When he did appear, he argued
with everyone.

"The men of the family have always had a violent temper. In my
stepfather's case, this was made worse by his time in prison. Two
terrible fights ended in the police court, and at last he became the
terror of the village, he is a man of great strength, and cannot be
controlied when he 1s angry.

"Last week he threw a local man off a bridge into a stream, this
was not reported to the police only because I paid all the money that I
could find. He has no friends except for some travelling people. He
allows them to camp in the woods on the small piece of land we still
own. They invite him into their tents. And sometimes he goes away
with them for several weeks.

"He also likes Indian animals, which are sent over to him by a
friend. These are feared by the villagers almost as much as their

OWIET 1S.

"You can imagine that my poor sister Julia and I did not have
much pleasure in our lives after our mother died. No servant stayed
with us for long, and we had to do all the housework. Julia was only
thirty at the time of her death, but her hair was already turning white,
like mine now."

"So your sister 15 dead?"

"She died two years ago, and her death is the reason that | am
here.

14
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You can understand that we were very unlikely to see anyone of our
own age and position. We had, however, an aunt, my mother's sister,
who lives near Harrow, and we were occasionally allowed to visit her.

"Julia went there at Christmas two years ago, and she met a man
who asked her to marry him. My stepfather learned of this when she
returned, and seemed quite happy about the marriage. But two weeks
before the wedding day, a terrible thing happened.”

Holmes was sitting back in his chair with his eyes closed. He halt
opened them now, and looked across at his visitor.

"Please tell me all the details," he said.

"It i1s easy for me to do that, because every event of that time is
burned into my memory. The family house is, as | have already said,
very old, and we now live in only one part of it. The bedrooms 1n this
part are on the ground floor. The first room 1s Dr Roylott's, the second
my sister's, and the third my own. There are no doors between them,
but they all open into the same passage.

"The windows of these rooms open out on the garden. On the
night of my sister's death, Dr Roylott had gone to his room early.
However, we knew that he had not gone to bed. My sister could smell
his strong Indian cigarettes.

"Because of this smell, she left her room and came into mine. She
sat there for some time, talking about her wedding. At eleven o'clock
she got up to leave, but she paused at the door and looked back.

"Tell me, Helen," she said, "have you ever heard anyone whistle
in the middle of the night?"

"Never" | said.

"You do not whistle in your sleep?”

"Certainly not. But why?"
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"Because during the last few nights I have heard a low clear

whistle, always at three in the moming, I am a light sleeper, and 1t has
woken me, I cannot tell where it came from - perhaps from the next

room, perhaps from the garden. Have you heard 1t?"
"No. It must be those travelling people in the woods."

"Very likely. But if it was from the garden, I am surprised that
you did not hear it too."

"Ah, but I sleep more heavily than you do."

"Well, it does not matter very much,"” she said, and she smiled at
me and left the room. A few moments later I heard her key turn in the

lock,"

"Really?" said Holmes. "Did you always lock your doors at
night?"
"Always."”

"And why?"

"l think I told you that the doctor kept some wild animals. They
ran about at night. We did not feel safe unless our doors were locked."

"I understand, please continue.”

"I could not sleep that night. I had a feeling that something very
bad was going to happen. My sister and I, you remember, were twins,
and twins can be very close. It was a wild night. The wind was
blowing hard outside and the rain was beating against the windows.

"Suddenly, through all the noise of the storm, I heard a wald
scream, I knew that it was my sister's voice, [ jumped from my bed
and rushed into the passage, as I opened my door, I seemed to hear a
low whistle, like the one my sister had described. A few moments
later, I heard a noise like a heavy piece of metal falling.

"As I ran down the passage, my sister's door opened.
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By the light of the passage lamp, I saw my sister appear in the
opening. Her face was white with terror.

"I ran to her and threw my arms round her, but at that moment
she fell to the ground. She moved on the floor like someone in terrible
pain. At first I thought she had not recognized me, but as I bent over
her she suddenly screamed, "Oh, my God! Helen! It was the band!

The speckled band!”

"She wanted to say something else, and she pointed in the
direction of the doctor's room, but the words did not come.

"] called loudly for my stepfather, and both of us tried hard to
save her life. We sent for medical help from the village, but there was
nothing we could do. She never opened her eyes again.”

"I heard a wild scream, I knew that it was my sister's voice."
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"Was your sister dressed?" asked Holmes.

"No. She was in her nightclothes, in her right hand we found the
burmnt end of a match, and in her left there was a matchbox."

"So she struck a light and looked around her when she first woke
up. That 1s important. What did the police decide?”

"They were very careful, as Dr Roylott's bad behavior had been
well known for a long time, but they were unable to find the cause of
her death. I was able to say that the door had been locked on the

inside, and the windows were closed every night.

"The walls were carefully checked, and had no hidden doors. The
police also checked the floor, with the same result. The chimney is
wide, but there are iron bars across it. It is certain, therefore, that my
sister was alone. Also, there were no marks of violence on her.”

"What about poison?"

"The doctors examined her for it, but without success."

"What do you think this unfortunate lady died of, then?"

"I believe that she died of fear, though I cannot imagine what
frightened her so much.”

"Ah, and what did you think she meant by a band - a speckled
band?"

"l do not know, perhaps it was wild talk caused by fear. Perhaps
she meant a band of people - those travelers in the woods. Many of

them wear spotted handkerchiefs."

Holmes shook his head. "Please continue with your story," he

said.
"I'wo years have passed since then, and until recently my life has

been a lonely one.
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A month ago, however, a dear friend, what I have known for many
years, asked me to marry him. My stepfather has agreed to our
marriage, and this will happen in the spring.

"Two days ago, some repairs were started in the west part of the

building, and I have had to move into my sister's room. Imagine my
terror when, last night, I suddenly heard the low whistle, which she

talked about on the night she died. I jumped up and lit the lamp, but I
could see nothing 1n the room.

"I was too frightened to go to bed again, so I got dressed. When
daylight came, I ran to the Crown Inn and got a carriage to
Leatherhead. I have come from there this moming, to see you and to

ask your advice."

"You have been very sensible," said my friend. "But have you
told me everything?"

"Yes, everything."”
"Miss Stoner, you have not. You are protecting your stepfather.”

"What do you mean?"

Holmes took Helen Stoner's hand, which lay on her knee, and
pulled it forward a little. On her wrist were five little red spots, the

marks of four fingers and a thumb.

"He has becn cruel to you," said Holmes.

The lady looked embarrassed, and covered her wrist. "He 15 a
difficult man," she said, "and perhaps he does not know his own

strength."
There was a long silence. Holmes stared into the fire.

"This is a very complicated business," he said at last. "There are a
thousand details which I would like to know. But we cannot waste

time.
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If we came to Stoke Moran today, would it be possible for us to see
these rooms without your stepfather’'s knowledge?"

"Yes, I think so. He spoke of spending the whole day in London.
He has some important business here."”

"Excellent. You will come with me, Watson?"

"I shall be very pleased to come."

"I have one or two things that I would like to do since I am in
London. But I shall return by the twelve o'clock train.”

"Then you will see us early in the afternoon,” Holmes said. "Will
you not eat breakfast with us?"

"No, I must go. I feel better since [ have told my trouble to you. I
shall look forward to seeing you again this afternoon.”

She dropped her veil over her face, and left the room.

"And what do you think of it all, Watson?" asked Sherlock
Holmes, sitting back in his chair.

"It seems to me a terrible business. But the lady said that there 1s
no way through the floor and walls. The chimney has iron bars across
it. And nobody could pass through the door or the window, That
means her sister was certainly alone when she met her strange death.”

"What about these whistles in the night, and the very odd words
of the dying woman?"

"I have no 1dea."

"I think 1t 1s possible that these travelling people had something
to do with it. They are close friends of the old doctor. And the doctor
may want to stop his stepdaughter's marriage. Then we must think
about the whistles and the speckled band. But what...!"
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These last words were spoken because our door had suddenly

been pushed open and a very large man had appeared in the room. His
clothes were a strange mix. He had on the black hat and long black

coat of a professional man, but his trousers were the type that you
would see on a farmer. He had a thick walking stick in his hand.

His large face was very lined, burned yellow by the sun. He
turned his hate-filled eyes from one to the other of us.

"Which of you is Holmes?" he asked.

"That 1s my name, sir," satd Holmes, "And you are...?"

"I am Dr Grimesby Roylott of Stoke Moran."
"Really? said Holmes quietly. "Please take a seat."”

"No, I will not. My daughter has been here. What has she been
saying to you?"
"It 15 a little cold for this time of year," Holmes said.

"What has she been saying to you?" screamed the old man, now
Very angry.
"But the flowers are starting to appear,” continued Holmes.

"Ha! You refuse to answer? said our new visitor, taking a step

forward and waving his stick in the air. "I know you, you are
troublemaker! You are Holmes, the man who cannot keep his nose out
of other people's business." My friend smiled. "Holmes, the man who

pretends to be a policeman!"

Holmes laughed loudly. "Your conversation is very entertaining,”
he said. "When you leave, please close the door."

"I will leave when I have said what I want to say. Stay away from
my business. 1 know that Miss Stoner has been here - [ had her

followed! I am a dangerous man! Look."
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He stepped quickly forward, picked up the poker, and bent it into a
curve with his large brown hands. Then, throwing the poked into the

fireplace, he marched out of the room.

"He seems to be a very nice man," Holmes said, laughing. "I am

not quite so big, but I think my strength 1s almost as great as his." As
he spoke, he picked up the poker. With a sudden pull on each end, he

straightened 1t again.

"This makes the whole case more interesting," he added. "I only
hope that our little friend will not suffer because she came here. And
now, Watson, we shall order breakfast, and afterwards I shall go to the
records office. I hope to get some usetul information there."

It was nearly one o'clock when Sherlock Holmes returned. He
held in his hand a sheet of blue paper, with notes and figures written

on it.

"I have seen the will of the dead wife," he said. "There 1s a large
sum of money which, eight years ago, produced about £1.100 a year.
Now, because of the fall in farming prices, the amount 1s probably less
than £750. And when a daughter marries, she will receive £ 250 a

year.

"So, if both girls -or even one girl- married, there would be little
money for him. My morning's work has not been wasted. He has very
strong reasons for stopping their marriages.

"Watson, this 1s very serious, and the old man knows that we are
interested in his business. If you are ready, we will call a carriage and
drive to Waterloo. Please bring your revolver. It may be necessary to

use 1t."

At Waterloo we caught a train for Leatherhead, where we hired a

carriage at the station inn. We drove through the lovely Surrey
country roads. It was a perfect day, with a bright sun and a few light

clouds in the sky.
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The trees were just beginning to show their new leaves, and the air
was full of the pleasant smell of the wet earth. There was a big
difference between the beauty of the spring and the dark business

which had brought us here.

My friend sat in the front of the carriage, thinking hard. His hat
was pulled down over his eyes, and his chin was on his chest.
Suddenly, however, he sat up, touched me on the shoulder, and
pointed over the fields at a large, very old gray house.

"Look there," he said. "Stoke Moran.”

"Yes sir, that is the house of Dr Grimesby Roylott,” said the
driver.

"There is some building work there," said Holmes. "That i1s where
we are going."

"There's the village," said the driver, pointing to a group of roofs
a little way away, "but the footpath through the fields is quicker.
There it 1s, where the lady 1s walking."

"And the lady, I think, 1s Miss Stoner," said Holmes.

We got off, and paid our fare, and the carriage turned back on its
way to Leatherhead.

"I thought," said Holmes, "that the driver should think we had
come here as builders, or on some definite business. It may stop him
talking. Good afternoon, Miss Stoner."

Our visitor of the morning hurried forward to meet us. "I've been
waiting for you," she cried, shaking hands with us warmly.

"Everything i1s going well. Dr Roylott has gone to London and is
unlikely to be back before evening."”

"We have already met the doctor," said Holmes, and in a few
words he told her what had happened.
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Miss Stoner turned white as she listened.

"Oh no!" she cried. "He has followed me, then?"

"You must lock yourself away from him tonight. If he is violent,
we shall take you away to your aunt's at Harrow. Now, we must make
the best use of our time. Please take us to the rooms which we need to

examine."

The house was built of gray stone, with a central part and two
curving side parts. The windows on one side were broken, and
covered with wooden boards. The central part was in better condition,
but the part on the right-hand side was quite modern. This was where

the family lived.

Some building work was being done on the end wall, but there
were no workmen at the time of our visit. Holmes carefully examined
the out sided of the windows.

"This, 1believe, belongs to your old room, the center one to your
sister's, and the one next to the main building belongs to Dr Roylott's

bedroom?"

"Yes, but I am now sleeping in the middle room.”

"Because of the building work, as I understand. I can see no great
need for repairs to that end wall.”

“The work 1s unnecessary. I believe that it 1s an excuse to move
me from my room."

"Ah! That is interesting. Now, would you please go into your
room, and lock the shutters?"

Miss Stoner did so. Holmes took out a knife and tried to force the
shutter open, but without success.

"Hmm," he said. "No one could get through these shutters if the
ron bars were in place, locking them. Well, perhaps the inside of the
room will give us some ideas."
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A small side-door led into the white painted passage. We went
first into the middle room, where Miss Stoner was now sleeping.

It was quite small, with a low ceiling and a wide fireplace. A
brown chest of drawers stood in one corner, a narrow bed 1n another,
and a table on the left-hand side of the window. The only other

furniture was two small chairs.

The walls were covered with wood, which looked about the same

age as the house. Holmes pulled one of the chairs into a corner and sat
silently. His eyes moved around, examining every detail of the room.

"When that bell rings, who answers 1t? he asked at last. He
pointed to a thick bell rope which hung down beside the bed. The end

of it was actually lying on the pillow.
"It goes to the servant's room."
"It looks newer than every thing else in the room.”

"Yes, 1t was only put there two years ago."

"Y our sister asked for it, I suppose?"”

"No, she never used it. When we wanted something, we got it
ourselves.”

"Then 1t does not seem necessary to have such a nice bell rope
there. Please excuse me for a few minutes while I look at this floor."

He lay face-down and examined the spaces between the boards.
Then he did the same with the wood around the walls. He walked to
the bed and stared at it. Finally, he took the bell rope in his hand and

pulled it.

"It 1s not areal bell! He said. "This 1s very interesting. It is fixed
to the wall just above the ventilator.”

"How silly! I have never noticed that before."

36



L ol e i taa oy je ladl oy 38 e g3g el gp U3
u;élhﬂﬂ\dmﬁlau;d\_’hll d:_l.luu.‘dh_)l.]'lblh‘_éu‘-l,!ﬁ
Tl el gl A i of (8 (o5 Al

fas Suaa Loagl I3 sl i

Cuusall dia 4 o’y () dih i gl ey Ja s el g L

L:.:Is_,.“ oﬂ]&fiy&l_}ﬂﬂib Sllia Cils :d;i

By glaadl 48yl ) o oy

OS saY oa \eSE el 48 2 e St glyy ) S0 A e il

DR S (s S ¢ pphaa (imdid QIS Gy o e g IS YT (e Sl g

S (9l y b i 4 gla cdailall ) dasay add g S ¢y pad) Cailag
oS pldialy e 3 JS Laiitia ¢dd gl ool Cabise i cday jalga Jpad, S

fla aa g 13l - gaiall Gual ob 5 jal g8 Jla
oz dee Gl
Calila f_.:.i_).]nJ !aT

L_S|J_,yhu_.!laul$‘\.lf ‘)S.:}ijco_qlub.bg:lh_ﬂihl_,i_)a

e 5 88 0a lld b Y
_n*kuhﬁiﬁ%niphnjgdemJ!ph UJ‘@_)J:JI N

Ll g Sl Gl gaa s (A cddany Ladiai Y oY

Tan 3 a4y joda () Lk caniel

37



"Very strange!" said Holmes quietly, pulling at the rope. "There
are one or two unusual things about this room. For example, why does
that ventilator go into another room, when 1t could open to the outside

air?
"That 1s also quite modern," the lady said.

"Was it put in at about the same time as the bell rope?" Holmes
asked.

"Yes, there were several little changes at that time."

"Bell ropes which do not pull, and ventilators which do not
ventilate. Now, with your permission, Miss Stoner, we will move next

door."

Dr Roylott's room was larger than Helen's, but 1t also had lttle
furniture in it. There was a bed, a small wooden shelf of books, an
armchair beside the bed, a plain wooden chair against the wall,
a round table, and a large iron box. Holmes walked slowly round and

round, examining everything with great interest.

"What is in here?" he asked, touching the box.

"My stepfather’s business papers,”

"Oh'! You have seen inside?”

"Only once. Some years ago. I remember it was full of papers.”

"There 1s not a cat in 1t, for example?"

"No. What a strange 1dea!”

"Well, look at this! He picked up a small bowl of milk which was
on top of it.

"No, we do not keep a cat, but there are some larger animals
around.”

"Ah yes, of course. But this is a very small bowl.
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Now, I would like to check one thing."

He bent down in front of the wooden chair, and examined it
closely.

"Thank you. That is fine," he said, standing up straight again.
"Ah! Here 1s something interesting.” ‘

He had seen asmall dog lead, hanging on one corner of the bed.
The end of it was tied in a small circle.

"What do you think of that, Watson?"
"It is an ordinary lead. But I do not know why it is tied.”

"That 1s not so normal, 1s 1t? Well, I think I have seen enough
now, Miss Stoner. With your permission, we shall walk in the garden
again.

"When we left the room, my friend's face was more serious than I
have ever seen it. We walked several times up and down the garden

before he spoke.

"Miss Stoner, you must follow my advice completely. If you do
not, you may die.”

"] shall do what you want me to do."

"First, my friend and [ must spend the night in your room."

Both Miss Stoner and I looked at him in surprise.

"Yes, we must. Let me explain. I believe that 1s the village inn
over there?" |

"Yes, that 1s the Crown.
"Very good. Your window can be seen from there?"
"Certainly."

"You must stay i1n your room when your stepfather comes back.
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When he goes to his room for the night, you must open the shutters of

your window and put your lamp there so we can see it. Then you must
go into your old bedroom. I am sure that you can manage there for

one night.”
"Oh, yes, easily."

"We will spend the night in your room. We wili try to discover
the reason for the noise that you have heard."”

"I belteve, Mr. Holmes, that you already know the answer," said
Miss Stoner, placing her hand on my friend's arm.

"Perhaps I do."

"Then please tell me the cause of my sister's death."
"I would prefer to be more certain before 1 speak.”

"Do you think she died of fear?"

"No, I do not think so. I think there was probably a more real
cause. And now, Miss Stoner, we must leave you. If Dr Roylott
returned and saw us, our journey would be for nothing. Goodbye, and

be brave."

Sherlock Holmes and I took a bedroom and a sitting-room at the
Crown Inn. They were upstairs on the first floor, and from our
window we could see the house quite easily. Early in the evening we
saw Dr Roylott drive past in a carriage. A few minutes later, there was
a sudden light among the trees as the lamp was lit in one of the sitting-

r'OOMS.

"Watson," saild Holmes, as we sat together in the growing
darkness, "l am unsure about taking you tonight. I think there may be

some danger.”
"Can I help?"
"You might be very useful."
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"Then I shall certainly come. I think you saw more in those
rooms than 1 could see.”

"Well, I knew that we would find a ventilator before we even
came to the house.”

"My dear Holmes!"

"Oh, yes, 1 did. Helen Stoner said that her sister could smell the
smoke of Dr Roylott's cigarettes. That. Of course, suggested that there
must be an opening between the two rooms. It could only be a small
one, because the police did not report it. It had to be a ventilator."

"But 1s that important?"

"Don't you think it is strange?" Holmes asked me. "A ventilator is
put in, a bell rope is hung, and the lady in the bed dies. Did you notice
that the bed was fixed to the floor? The lady could not move her bed.
It had to stay there - near the bell rope, and under the ventilator."

"Holmes," I cried, "I am beginning to understand! We must stop a
clever and horrible crime."

"Yes, when a doctor becomes a criminal, he 1s the worst of
criminals. He has all the knowledge that is necessary for murder. I
think we may have a terrible night ahead of us. For the moment, let us
have a quiet pipe and try to think about scmething more cheerful.”

At about nine o'clock, the light among the trees went out, and the
house went dark. Two hours passed slowly, and then, suddenly, a
single bright light shone out.

"That 1s our sign," said Holmes, jumping to his feet. "It comes
from the middle window."

A moment later, we were out on the dark road. When we got near
the house, we left the road and walked through the trees. We reached
the garden, walked quietly through it and climbed into the bedroom.
Holmes silently closed the shutters.
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Then he moved the lamp on to the table and looked around the room.
It seemed just the same as before.

He came close to me and, speaking in a whisper, said, "The
smallest sound could ruin all our plans. We must sit without a light.
He would see it through the ventilator. Do not go to sleep. Your life
may be in danger. Have your revolver ready. I will sit on the side ot

the bed, and you in that chair."

I took out my revolver and put it on the comer of the table.
Holmes had brought a long thin stick, and he placed this on the bed
beside him. Near it he put a box of matches and the end of a candle.
Then he turned down the lamp and we were left in the dark.

How shall I ever forget the terrible hours that followed?
Sometimes, from outside, we heard the cry of a night bird, and the
church clock struck every quarter of an hour. Twelve o'clock passed,
and one, and two, and three. We still sat silently, waiting for
something to happen.

Suddenly, a light shone for a moment in the direction of the
ventilator. It disappeared immediately, but it was followed by a strong
smell of burning oil and heated metal. Someone in the next room had
lit a small lamp. I heard a gentle sound of movement, and then

everything was silent again, though the smell grew stronger.

For half an hour I sat listening. Then I heard something else - a

very gentle sound like steam escaping from a pot. Holmes jumped
from the bed and lit the candle. Then he struck wildly with his stick at

the bell rope.
"Can you see it, Watson?" he shouted. "Can you see 1t?"

But I saw nothing. When Holmes struck the match, I heard a low
clear whistle. But the sudden light made it impossible to see what my
friend was striking. I could, however, see that his face was pale and
filled with horror.
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Holmes had now put down his stick, and he was looking up at the
ventilator. Then came the most horrible cry I have ever heard. It was a
scream of pain and anger, and it grew louder and louder. They say
that, down in the village, sleepers jumped from their beds. I stood
staring at Holmes and he at me, until it stopped.

Then he struck wildly with his stick at the bell rope.

"What does that mean?"

"It means that it is finished," Holmes answered. "And perhaps it
is the best thing that could happen. Take your revolver, and we will
enter Dr Roylott's room."

Holmes lit the lamp, and led the way down the passage. Twice he
knocked on the door of the room, but there was no reply.
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Then he turned the handle and entered. I was just behind him, with the
revolver in my hand.

On the table stood a small lamp. The iron box was open and near
it, on the wooden chair, sat Dr Grimesby Roylott. On his knees lay the
dog lead, which we had noticed earlier. Dr Roylott's eyes were fixed
in a terrible stare. Round his head there was a strange yellow band

with brown spots.
"The band! The speckled band!" whispered Holmes.

I took a step forward. The band moved, and I saw it was a snake.

"That is the most dangerous type of snake in India!" Holmes
cried. "He died seconds after 1t bit him."

As he spoke, he took the dog lead quickly from the dead man's
knees, put the circle round the snake's head, and threw it in to the iron

box.

These are the true facts of the death of Dr Giemesby Roylott of
Stoke Moran. We told the news to the sad girl, then took her by the
momning train to her aunt in Harrow. We then called the police. They
decided that the doctor had died while playing with a dangerous pet.

On the train the next day, Sherlock Holmes told me the facts that
[ still had to learn about the case.

"At first," he said, "I had completely the wrong idea. I thought the
dead girl meant a "band" of travelling people. However, when I saw
that nobody could get into that room through the window or the door,
[ had to think again.

"There were three strange things in the room - the ventilator the
bell rope and the bed. I decided that the rope might be a bridge for
something that passed through the ventilator to the bed.

"The 1dea of a snake came to me because I knew that the doctor
had a number of animals from India.
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He is also a doctor, and has worked in India, so he would know about
poison that is not discovered by any test. Another advantage of a
snake is the speed with which the poison works. No policeman would
notice the two little holes where 1t went in.

"Then I thought of the whistle. Of course, he had to get the snake

back before daylight. He had taught it, possibly using the bowl ot
milk, to return to him when he whistled. So every night, very late, he
put it through the ventilator. It climbed down the rope and landed on

the bed. It might or might not bite the sleeping girl. Perhaps she might
escape every night for a week, but sooner or later it would kill her.

"I decided all this before I even entered his room. I examined his

chair and saw that he had often stood on it. He used it, of course, to
reach the ventilator. When I saw the iron box, the bowl of milk and
the dog lead, I was sure that I had the right idea. Miss Stoner had
spoken about the sound of falling metal. That was when the doctor

quickly shut the iron box after he had put the snake inside.

"So then we had to see if I was right. When I heard a hissing
sound, I knew that the snake was coming through. I quickly Iit the

candle and attacked it."
"And it went back through the ventilator."

"Yes, and then it bit Dr Roylott. I am responsible for his death,
but I do not feel very guilty about that."
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The Five Orange Pips

When I look back over my records of Sherlock Holmes's cases

between the years 1882 and 1890, I find many that were strange and
interesting. It is difficult to know which cases to include here. Some
have already been reported in the newspapers, and others did not
allow my friend to show his very special abilities. There are others,
which he could not solve or which never completely satistied him.
One of these cases was very unusual in its details. [ will tell what I

know of the story.

It began on an evening in September 1887, during a very violent
autumn storm. All day the wind had screamed and the rain had beaten
against the windows. As evening came, the storm grew louder and
louder, and the wind cried like a child 1n the chimney.

Sherlock Holmes walked up and down, checking records of his

past cases. I sat at the desk, organising some medical notes. My wife
was visiting her aunt, and for a few days I was living in my old rooms

in Baker Street.

"Was that the door bell?" { said, looking up at my friend. "Who
would come tonight?”

"If someone needs my help, it must be a serious case." Holmes
agreed.

At that moment, there was a knock at the door. Holmes turned a
lamp towards the chair on which the visitor would sit.

"Come in!" he said.

The man was young, perhaps twenty-two years old or less, and
well dressed. His wet umbrella and his long shining raincoat showed
the wild weather that he had come through.
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He looked around anxiously in the bright light of the lamp, and I
could see that his face was pale and his eyes were heavy. He was a

very worried man.

"I must ask you to forgive me for visiting you so late," he said,
putting on a pair of gold glasses. "I am sorry, too, that I have brought
some of the bad weather into this warm room."

"You have come from Sussex, I see." Holmes said.

"Yes, from Horsham."

"That mud on your shoes is quite typical of the area."
"I have come for advice."”

"That 1s easy."

"And help.”

"That is not always so easy."

"I have heard of you, Mr. Holmes. I heard from Captain
Prendergast how you saved him in that business at the Tankerville

Club."

"Ah, of course. They said that he cheated at cards. They were
wrong."

"He said that you could solve anything - that you are never
beaten.”

"I have been beaten - three times by men and once by a woman.
But 1t 1s true that Ihave generally been successful. Please pull your
chair closer to the fire, and tell me some details of your case."

"It 15 not an ordinary one."

"I expected that. People come to me after they have tried
everything else. They do not bring me ordinary cases. Now, please
give us the facts from the beginning."
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The young man moved his chair and pushed his wet feet out
towards the fire.

"My name," he said, "is John Openshaw, but this awful business
i1s a family matter. To give you an idea of the facts, I must go back to

the beginning.

"My grandfather had two sons - my uncle Elias and my father
Joseph. My father had a small factory in Coventry. He made parts for
bicycles, and was successful. After some years he sold the business

for quite a lot of money.

"My uncle Ehas went to America when he was a young man, and
became a planter in Florida. At the time of the war between the
northern and southern states, he fought in Jackson's arrny. When the

South was beaten, he returned to Florida and stayed there for three or
four years. In about 1869 or 1870, he came back to Europe and bought

some land in Sussex, near Horsham. He had made a lot of money in
the United States, but he left because black people had been allowed
to vote. He did not like that.

"He was an unusual man, often angry and bad-tempered, and he
did not seem to like other people. He lived near Horasham for years,
but I do not think that he ever went into the town. He had a garden
and two or three fields around the house. He took his exercise there,
though very »ften he did not leave his room for several weeks. He
drank a lot an«» smoked very heavily, and he did not want any friends,

not even his own brother.

"But he seemed to like me. I first saw him when I was only about
twelve. I think that was in the year 1878 - he had been in England for
eight or nine years. He asked my father to let me come and live with
him, and he was very kind to me in his way. I spoke to other people
for him, and at sixteen I was almost completely in charge of the
house. I kept al the keys and looked after the money. I could go where

[ liked and do what I liked.
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"There was only one place where I was not allowed to go. That
was a locked room at the top of the house. Because I was like any

other boy I looked through the keyhole, but I was only able to see a
collection of old boxes.

"One day - in March 1883 - a letter with a foreign stamp lay on
the table in front of Uncle Elias's plate. He did not often receive
letters, because his bills were paid in cash and he had no friends.

"From India!" he said, as he picked it up. "Pondicherry postmark!
What can this be?" He opened the letter and out fell five little seeds -

orange pips. I began to laugh at this, but my laugh died at the sight ot
his face. His lip had fallen, his eyes stared and his skin turned pale. He
held the letter in a shaking hand. "K, K, K! he cried, and then: "My
God, my God! My past has found me."

"What 1s it, uncle?" I cried.

"Death!" he said. Then he got up from the table and left the room,
leaving me puzzled and very afraid. I picked up the envelope. Inside,
in red ink, the letter "K" was written three times. There was nothing
else except the five dried pips. What could the reason be for his great
terror? I left the breakfast table and met him coming downstairs. He
had a large key in one hand and a small box, like a cash box, in the

other.

"They can do what they like, but I will win in the end," he said
angrily. "Tell Mary" -she was his servant- "that I shall want a fire in
my room today, and send for Fordham, my lawyer."

"I did as he ordered. When the lawyer arrived, I asked him to

come up to the room. The fire was burning brightly and all around it
there were black pieces of burnt paper. The small box stood open and
empty beside 1t. As I looked at the box I noticed, with surprise, that
there were three Ks printed on 1it.

"I want you, John," my uncle said, "to witness my will.
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[ am leaving my house and my land, with all its advantages and
disadvantages, to my brother, your father. When he dies it will, no
doubt, come to you. If you can enjoy my money In peace, that is
good! If you cannot, leave everything to your worst enemy. I do not
know what is going to happen. Please sign the paper where Mr.

Fordham shows you.”

"I signed the will and the lawyer took 1t away with him. This
strange event puzzled me. I could not escape from a feeling of fear,
though this grew less strong as the weeks passed and nothing
happened to affect our lives.

"But 1 could see a change in my uncle. He drank more than
before, and he spent most of the time in his room, with the door
locked on the inside. Sometimes he got drunk and ran around the
garden with a gun in his hand, shouting that he was afraid of nobody.
Then he rushed back into the house, locking the door behind him.

"Well, one night he ran out of the house like this, but he never
came back. When we went to search for him, we found him face
downward in a small lake at the bottom of the garden. There was no
sign of a fight, and the water was only two feet deep.

"He was dead, and the police believed that he had killed himself.
He had behaved strangely for months. But I did not believe this. I
knew how much he was afraid of death. Time passed, however, and
my father now owned the house, the land, and fourteen thousand

pounds in the bank."

"One moment,” Holmes said. "Your story is one of the strangest I
have ever heard. When did your uncle receive the letter, and when did

he die?"

"The letter arrived on 10th March, 1883. His death was seven
weeks later, on the night of May 2nd."

"Thank you. Please continue."
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"When my father first came to the house, I asked him to examine
the room which had always been kept locked. We found the small box
there, but it was empty except for one piece of paper. It had the letter
K K.K on it, and the words "Letters, receipts and list of members"

"These were probably the papers that my uncle destroyed. There
was nothing else important in the room - only papers and notebooks
connected with my uncle's life in America. Some of these showed that
he had been a good soldier during the war. Others, from after this

time, were about politics. They showed that he had been strongly
against the politicians who had been sent down from the North.

"Well, my father came to live at Horsham in 1884, and all went

well until January of 1885. On the fourth day after New Year, I heard
a shout of surprise from my father. He was sitting at the breakfast

table with an open envelope in one hand and five dried orange pips in
the other. He had always laughed at my story about Uncle Elias, but

now he looked very puzzled and frightened.
' "What does this mean, John?" he whispered.

' "It is the K.K.K," I said. I was frightened too.

"He looked inside the envelope. "Yes, here are the same letters.
But what 1s written above them?"

' "Put the papers on the stone seat,” I read, looking over his
shoulder.

' "What papers? What stone seat?" he asked.

‘ "The stone seat in the garden? But the papers have been
destroyed.”

' "This is rubbish," he said, beginning to sound braver. "This sort
of thing does not happen in this country. Where does this letter come

from?"

' "From Dundee." I answered, looking at the postmark.
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' "A stupid joke," he said. "Why should they write to me about
stone seats and papers?"

' "I think you should speak to the police," I said.
' "They will laugh at me. No, I can't do that."

'"Then let me speak to them."
'"No, let's not do anything."

"I could not change his mind. But I was very worried about the
letter.

"Three days later, my father decided to visit a friend who lived a
few miles away. I was happy about this, because I thought that he was
in less danger when he was away from home. But I was wrong. On the
second day, I received a message. My father had fallen into a deep
hole in the ground. He was still breathing when I got to him, but he
could not speak. He died soon after that.

"He did not know the country, and there was no fence around the
hole, so the police decided that his death was an accident.

"I, too, could find nothing that suggested murder. There were no
signs of a fight, no footprints. Nothing had been stolen from his

pockets and no strangers had been seen in the area. But, of course, |
still believed that someone had killed him.

"In this strange way I became the owner of the house and the
land. I did not sell it and move away because I believe that the

problems are connected with something in my uncle's life. The danger
would, I think, be as great in another house."

"My poor father was Kkilled in January 1885, and two years and
eight months have passed since then. I have lived happily at Horsham, -
but yesterday moming it all started again."

The young man took an envelope from his pocket.
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Tumning to the table, he shook out five dried orange pips.

"This is the envelope,” he continued. "The postmark 1s London -
the East End. Inside are the same words that were in my father's
envelope - "K.K.K", and then, "Put the papers on the stone seat.”

"What have you done?" asked Holmes.

"Nothing."
"Nothing?"

"I feel completely helpless." He let his face fall into his thin,
white hands. "I seem to be in great danger, and nothing can save me

from it. But [ have seen the police."
IIAh?H

"They listened to my story with a smile. I think they believe that
the letters were jokes and the death of my uncle and father were just
accidents. However, they have given me a policeman, who c¢an stay in

the house with me."
"Has he come with you tonight.”
"No. He was ordered to stay in the house."

"Stupid!" Holmes said. "So why did you com to me? And why
did you not come immediately?"

"I only spoke to Captain Prendergast about my problem today and
he told me to come and see you."

"It 1s two days since you received the letter, and too much time
has passed already. Have you anything else that could help us?"

"There is one thing," said John Openshaw. He put his hand in his
pocket and took out a piece of light blue paper. "After my uncle
bumed his papers, I found this on the floor of his room. Perhaps he
dropped it when he took the others to the fire.
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[ think it is a page from a private diary. The writing 1s certainly my
uncle's.”

Holmes moved the lamp, and we both bent over the sheet of
paper. The irregular edge showed that it had been torn from a book. It
had "March 1869" at the top, and underneath this was written:

4th Hudson came.

Sth  Sent the pips to McCauley, Paramore and John Swain
of St Augustine

9th Paramore left.

10th John Swain left.
12th Visited Paramore. All well.

"Thank you" said Holmes, giving the paper back to our visitor.
"And now you must not lose another moment. You must go home

immediately, and act."
"What shall I do?”

"You must put this piece of paper into the box which you have
described. You must also put in a note to say that all the other papers
were burned by your uncle. After that, you must put the box out on the
stone seat, as they said. Do you understand?"

"Completely."

"First, we must take away the danger that you are in. Second, we
must solve the mystery, and punish the guilty ones."

"Thank you," said the young man, standing up and putting on his
coat. "You have given me new hope. I shall certainly do as you

advise."
"Don't waste any time. And take care of yourself. How will you

go home?"
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"By train from Waterloo Station."

"It is not yet nine. The streets are still crowded, so I think that you
may be safe. Remember to guard yourselt well.”

"I am carrying a gun.”
"That 1s good. Tomorrow I shall start work on your case."

"I shall see you at Horsham, then?"

"No. Your secret lies in London. I shall look for it here."

"Then I shall come in a day, or in two days, with news of the box
and the papers."

He shook hands with us and left. Outside, the wind still screamed,
and the rain was beating against the windows.

Sherlock Holmes sat in silence, with his head down and his eyes
on the fire. Then he lit his pipe and looked up.

"l think, Watson," he said, "that this is the most puzzling of our
cases."

"Well, yes," I said.

"This John Openshaw seems to be in great danger."

"But have you," I asked, "any definite ideas about those dangers?
Who is this K.K.K, and why is he destroying this unhappy family?"

"l have always said that a man should only keep in his brain what
he needs to know from day to day. When something unusual comes
along, like the meaning of K.K.K, he can always go to his library."

He got out of his chair and crossed to the shelf where he kept his
books on America. He found the one he wanted. He sat down again,
placed it on his knee, but didn't open it.
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"Now," he said, "first, we can guess that Elias Openshaw had a
very strong reason for leaving America. Men of his age do not change
their way of life, or willingly leave the warm weather ot Florida for
the lonely life of an English town. He wanted to be alone in England,
which suggests that he was frightened of someone or something. So
then we need to think about the three letters. Do you remember the

postmarks?"

"The first was from Pondicherry, the second from Dundee, and
the third from London."

"From East London. What does that tell you?"

"They are all sea ports. Probably the writer was on a ship.”

"Excellent. And in the case of Pondicherry, Elias was killed seven
weeks after receiving the letter. The Dundee letter arrived only three

or four days before a death. Dundee, of course, i1s nearer. I think the
men came on a sailing ship, and they always sent their warning ahead
of them. It probably arrived before them because it came on a
steamship, as letters usually do."

"It 15 possible."

"More than that," said Holmes, "It is probably what happened.
And now you see the danger that John Opevshaw is in. This letter
comes from London and therefore we cannot expect any delay."

"Good God!" I cried. "What can it mean, this endless killing?"

"Elisa Openshaw's papers are of great importance to the persons
in the sailing ship. I say "persons” because it would be difficult for a
single mean to kill two men and make both deaths look like accidents.

"These men want their papers back, and they will kill whoever
has them. So K.K.K 1s not the name of a person, but of a society."

"But of what society?"
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"Have you never- "said Sherlock Holmes, bending forward and
talking in a low voice - "Have you never heard of the Ku Klux Klan?"

"No, I have not”

Holmes turned the pages of the book on his knee. "Here 1t 1s," he
said after a moment. "Ku Klux Klan. This terrible secrct society was
started by some soldiers in the southern states after the end of the war,
and 1t quickly spread to different parts of the country, especially
T'ennessee. Louisiana, the Carolinas, Georgia and Florida.

"Its power was used for political purposes, mainly to frighten
black voters. It murdered people who were against its views. When a
murder was planned, a waming was usually sent - leaves from a
certain tree in some parts, apple seeds or orange pips in others. The
man could then change his ways, or leave the country. If he took no
notice of the waming, he was killed.

"The society was very well-organized, so few of its members
were ever brought to court. For some years the Ku Klux Klan was
very strong. The United States Government, and the better type of
people in the South could do nothing about it. Then, in the year 1869,
it stopped operating, though there have been some examples of the

same sort of crime since that date.”

"You see," said Holmes, putting down the book, "the sudden end
of the society's power came at the same time as Openshaw
disappeared from America with their papers. It is not surprising that
he and his family have been hunted ever since then. The list of names
may include some of the most important men in the South. There may
be many men who will not sleep easily at night until they get it back.”

"Then the page which we have seen-"

"It said, if I remember correctly, "sent the pips to A, B and C"
- 50 the society's warning was sent to them. Then it says that A and B
"left" the country, and finally C was visited, and probably killed.
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"Young Openshaw must do what Ihave told him. It 1s his only

chance. But we can do nothing more tonight, so I shall play my violin.
Let us try to forget for half an hour this terrible weather, and the even

more terrible ways of men."

The next morning, the sun was shining a little through the veil of
fog, which always hangs over the great city. Sherlock Holmes was
already at breakfast when I came down.

"Please excuse me," he said. "I did not wait, because I have, |
think, a very busy day in front of me."

"What will you do?" I asked.

"I may have to go down to Horsham."
"But you will not go there first?"

"No, I shall begin here in London. Just ring the bell for some
coffee."

As 1 waited, I lifted the unopened newspaper from the table and
looked at the front page.

"Holmes!" 1 cried. "You are too late!"

"Ah," he said, putting down his cup. "I was afraid so. How was it
done?" He spoke calmly, but I could see that he felt deeply about it.

"Here 1s the story: "Between nine and ten last night, a policeman
heard a cry for help near Waterloo Bridge. He then heard the sound of
something falling into the water. A number of people tried to help, but
the night was very dark and stormy. It was impossible to do anything.

' "After some time the river police managed to pull the body out
of the water. An envelope was found in his pocket. This told the
police that the young man's name was John Openshaw, and that his
house was near Horsham. There were no signs of violence on his

body.
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' "We suggest building some fences along the sides of the river
near Waterloo Bridge."'

We sat in silence for some minutes. Holmes was more affected
than I had ever seen him.

"This really hurts me, Watson," he said at last. "It has become a

personal matter now, and I shall put my hand on the men who did this.
That young man came to me for help, and I sent him away to his

death!"

He jumped from his chair, and walked up and down the room.
His face, normally pale, was very red.

"They must be very clever," he said. "How did they make him go
down there? The riverside is not on the way to the station. Well,
Watson, we shall see who will win in the end. [ am going out now!”

"To the police?”
"No. After 1 catch them, the police can have them."

All day I was busy with medical matters, and I did not return to
Baker Street until late in the evening. Sherlock Holmes had not come
back yet. It was nearly ten o'clock before he entered, looking pale and
tired. He walked to the side table, pulled a piece from the loaf of
bread, and ate 1t hungnily.

"You are hungry,” I said.
"Very. I have had nothing to eat since breakfast. I had no time."

"And have you been successful?"
llvel..y."
"You know who the men are?”

"Yes, young Openashaw's death will be paid for. And I think we
shall send them a warning that they will recognize."
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"What do you mean?"

He took an orange from the cupboard, and squeezed out the pips
on to the table. He took five of them and pushed them into an

envelope. On the inside he wrote, "S.H for J. O." Then he closed it
and addressed it to "Captain James Calhoun, Safling Ship Lone Star,

Savannah, Georgia, USA,"

"That will be there before him. He can read it when he arrives,”
he said, laughing. "It may give him a sleepless night."

"And who 1s this Captain Calhoun?”

"The leader of these men. I shall get the others too, but he is the
first."

"How did you find him?"

"I have spent the whole day," Holmes said, "at the port of
London. 1 have studied the lists of all the ships, which were at
Pondicherry in January and February 1883. There were thirty-six large
ships. Of these, the Lone Star caught my attention, because it was an
American ship.”

"What then?"

"I studied the records for Dundee, but I found that the Lone Star
was there in January 1885. I knew that I had the right ship. I then
checked the ships which are at the moment in the port of London."

"Yes?"

"The Lone Star arrived here last week. I went to have a look at
her, but she sailed early this morning."

"What will you do, then?

"Oh, 1 have my hand on him. Captain Calhoun and the two other
officers are the only three Americans on the ship. The others are Finns
and Germans.
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[ also know that all three of them were away from the ship last night. [
[earnt that from one of the workers in the port. I expect the mail boat
to carry this letter to Savannah before their sailing ship arrives. 1 will
also send a message to the Savannah police that these three gentlemen

are wanted here for murder."

The murderers of John Openshaw, however, never received the
orange pips. They did not know that another, much cleverer person,

was hunting for them.

The autumn storms that year were very bad. For a long time we
waited for news of the Lone Star of Savannah, but none reached us.
We did at last hear that a broken piece of wood from a boat was found
on the water, far out in the Atlantic. The letters L.S. were cut into it,
and that 1s all we know about the end of the Lone Star.
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The Crown of Diamonds

Part 1: The Banker's Problem

"Holmes," 1 said, as I stood one morning at the window, looking
down Baker Street, "here I1s a madman coming. It seems rather sad
that his relatives allow him to go out alone.”

My friend got up from his armchair and looked over my shoulder.
It was a bright cold February morning, and snow lay deep on the
ground, shining in the winter sun.

The man was about fifty years old, tall, rather fat, and well
dressed 1in expensive clothes. But his behavior did not suit his clothes;
as he ran along the street, he waved his arms up and down and shook

his head.

"What is the matter with him?" I asked. "Is he 'noking up at the
numbers of the houses?"

"I believe he is coming here, my dear Watson," said Holmes.

"Here?"

"Yes, ] think he may want to speak to me professionally. Ha!"

As he -roke, the man rushed at our door and pulled our bell,
making a greai noise.

A few moments later, he was in our room. He was breathing hard
and waving his arms in the air. But we stopped smiling when we saw
the sadness in his eyes.

For atime, he could not speak. His body moved from side to side
and he pulled at his hair like a madman. Sherlock Holmes pushed him
gently down into a chair.
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"You have come to tell me your story, haven't you?" he said.
"Please wait until you feel better, and then tell me about your

problem.”

The man sat silently until his breathing slowed down. Then he
turned towards us.

"You probably think [ am mad,"” he said. "I have a problem that is
enough to make me mad. I could live with public shame, although my
character has never been questioned. Private problems are also
common. But the two have come together, in a termrible way, and have
almost destroyed me. Also, I am not alone. The most important people
in the country will suffer too, unless you can find a way out of this

horrible business."

"Calm yourself, sir," said Holmes. "Who are you, and what has
happened to you?"

"My name," answered our visitor, "is probably familiar to you. I
am Alexander Holder, of the banking company Holder & Stevenson,
of Threadneedle Street."

The name was well known to us. This man was the older partner
of the second largest private bank in the City of London. What had
happened, then, to bring one of London's leading citizens to this sad
situation? We waited until he managed to begin his story.

"Time 1s vaiuable, so I hurried when the police suggested I should
ask for your help. I take very little exercise, but carriages are too slow
in this snow, so I ran from the Underground station. I feel better now,
and I will tell you the facts as clearly as I can.

"Yesterday morning I was sitting in my office in the bank, when a
card was brought in to me. I was surprised when I saw the name. It
was one of the most famous names in England. I saw him
immediately.

' "Mr. Holder," he said, "I have been told that you lend money."
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' "The company does lend money if we believe that the money
will be repaid,"” | answered.

' "I need fifty thousand pounds immediately,” he said, "I could, of
course, borrow such a small sum from my friends, butl preferto
make it a matter of business.”

' "Can I ask you how long you want this sum for?"

' "Next Monday I shall receive a large amount of money. I shall
certainly repay you then. But it is very important to me that the money
is paid now."

' "I would be happy to lend you the money myself." I said, "but
this amount is too large. If it comes from the company, I must ask you
to leave something with us of the same value."

' "I would prefer that," he said, lifting up his square black leather
case. "I am sure you have heard of the crown of diamonds.”

' "It is one of the most valuable pieces of public property in this
country," I said.

' "Exactly." He opened the case, and there, lying on soft pink
cloth, was the beautiful piece of jewellery. "There are thirty-nine very
large diamonds," he said, "and even the price of the gold 1s enormous.
I will leave this crown with you." I took the case into my hands and
looked doubtful at the man. "You don't think it is right for me to leave
it?" he asked. "l am certain that | will be able to take it back in four
days. But please keep this matter secret, and take great care of the
crown. [ shall come for it on Monday morning."

"He was anxious to leave, so I arranged for the payment to him of
fifty thousand pounds in notes. When I was alone again, I began to
teel sorry that I had agreed to keep the valuable crown. It belonged to
the nation, so there would be a terrible problem if anything happened
to it. However, 1t was too late to change things now, so I locked it up
In a speclal box in my room, and went back to my work.
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"When evening came, I decided to take the crown home with me.
Bankers' offices have been broken into before now. So Icalled a
carriage and drove to my house in Streatham, carrying the crown with
me. | did not breathe easily until I had taken 1t upstairs and locked it

safely away in a cupboard in my dressing-room.

"[ have two male servants, Mr. Holmes, but they sleep out of the
house, so we need not worry about them. | also have three excellent

female servants who have been with me for a number of years.

"There is another servant, Lucy Parr, who has only been with me
for a few months. However, she seems to be of good character, and
she has always done her work well. She is a very pretty girl, and a
number of young men have called on her. That is not a great problem,
and we believe that she is a very good girl in every way.

"My tamily 1s small. My wife died some years ago, and I have
only one son, called Arthur. He has caused me quite a lot of trouble. I
blame myself completely. When my wife died, he was all that I loved.
I gave him everything he wanted, and perhaps this was not good for
him.

"I wanted Arthur to come and work with me in the bank, but he
did not like business. When he was young, he became a member of a
club and met a number of rich men with expensive habits. He began to
lose money at cards and at the horse races, and he came to me again
and again for more money. He tried many times to leave these new
friends, but each time one man, Sir* George Bumwell, pulled him
back again.

"Sir George came frequently to the house at Streatham, I am not
surprised that Arthur liked him, because he has been everywhere and
done everything. He is a good talker, and very handsome, but I have
never really liked him. My little Mary thinks the same way.

* Sir: the title of a man from an important family.
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"Mary is my niece, but she is like my daughter. She came to live
with us when my brother died five years ago. She is sweet, loving and
beautiful, and she takes care of the house. I do not know what I would

do without her.

"She has only acted against my wishes In one thing. Twice my

boy has asked her to marry him, because he loves her very much, and
each time she has refused him. I thought that marriage to her might

change his life, but now it 1s too late!
"Now, Mr. Holmes, you know the people who live under my
roof. I shall continue with my sad story.

"When we were having coffee after dinner that night, I told

Arthur and Mary about the valuable crown that was now in the house.
I did not tell then who had given it to me. Lucy Parr had brought in
the coffee, and had left the room, but I cannot be sure that the door
was closed. Mary and Arthur were very interested, and wanted to see
the famous crown, but I did not show it to them.

' "Where have you put it?" Arthur asked.
'"In my dressing-room cupboard.”
' "] hope nobody breaks into the house during the night," he said.

' "The cupboard is locked," I answered.

' "Oh, other keys will fit that cupboard. When I was a child I
opened it with the key of the sitting-room cupboard."”

"That night Arthur followed me to my room.

' "Dad," he said, with his eyes looking down, "can you let me
have two hundred pounds?"

' "No, Icannot," I answered. "I have been too generous with you
already.”
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' "You have been very kind," said Arthur, "but [ must have the
money, or [ will not be able to enter the club again.”

' "That would be a very good thing."

' "Yes, but you would not want me to leave 1t in shame," he said.
"I could not live with that. [ must get the money. If you will not give it
to me, I must try something else.”

"l was very angry, because this was the third demand in one
month. “You will not have a penny from me," I shouted, and he tumed
and left the room.

"When he was gone [ opened my cupboard, checked the crown,
and locked it again. Then I went round the house, checking the locks
on the doors and windows. I usually let Mary do this. As I came
downstairs, I saw Mary at the side window of the hall. She closed and
locked it when I came near.

" "Tell me, uncle,” she said, looking a little anxious, "did you give
Lucy permission to go out tonight?"

' "Certainly not."

"She has just come in by the back door. She has probably only
been to the side gate to see someone, but I think that it is not safe. We
should stop it."”

" "You or I must speak to her in the morning. Are you sure that
everything 1s locked?"

¢ I‘I‘Yesil‘l

' "Then, good night." I kissed her, and went to my bedroom. Mr.
Holmes, I am not a very heavy sleeper, and I was worried about the

crown. At about two in the morning, I was woken by a sound in the
house.

"I had the idea that a window had gently closed somewhere.
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I listened and then suddenly heard, to my horror, the sound of soft
footsteps in the next room, I got out of bed, very frightened, and
looked round the door.

' "Arthur,” 1 screamed, "you thief! What are you doing with that
crown?”

"My son was standing beside the gaslight, holding the crown in
his hands. He appeared to be bending it with all his strength. When I

shouted, he dropped it and went as pale as death. I picked 1t up and
examined it. One of the gold points, with three of the diamonds in it

had gone.

' "You horrible boy!" I shouted angrily. "You have destroyed it!
You have brought shame on me forever! Where are the jewels you

have stolen?"”

' "Stolen!" he cried.

' "Yes, you thief!" I shouted, shaking him by the shoulder.
' "They are all there. They must all be there,” he said.

' "Three have gone. And you know where they are. I saw you
trying to pull off another piece."

' "You have insulted me enough,” he said. "I will not listen. I will
leave your house in the morning, and make my own way in the
worid."

'"You will leave in the hands of the police!" I cried, half mad
with sadness and anger.

' "They will learn nothing from me," he said, and I have never
seen him so angry. "If you decide to call the police, let them find what
they can.”

"By this time the whole house was awake, and Mary rushed into

the room. At the sight of the crown and Arthur's face, she understood
the whole story and fell to the floor.
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I sent for the police, and they arrived quickly. Arthur asked if I
intended to let them take him away. I answered that it had become a

public matter, since the crown belonged to the country.

' *It would," he said, "be to your advantage and mine if I could
leave the house for five minutes first.”

' "Then you could run away or perhaps hide what you have
stolen," I said. "You have to face facts. You have been caught in the

act, and nothing could make things worse for you. But tell me where
the diamonds are. Then I shall forgive and forget everything."

' "] have not asked for your forgiveness," he answered, turning
away from me. [ called the police into the room and let them take him.

A search was made, of Arthur, his room, and the house, but the stones
were not found.

"This moming Arthur was taken to the police station, and I have
hurried here to ask for your help. You can ask for as much money as
you like. I have already offered a reward for a thousand pounds. My
God, what shall I do? Ihave lost my good name, my diamonds and

my son in one night. Oh, What shall I do!"

Sherlock Holmes sat silently for some minutes, staring into the
fire.

"Do you have many guests in your house?" he asked.

"None, except for my business partner and his family, and
sometimes Arthur's friends. Sir George Burmwelil has been several
times recently. No one else, I think."

"Do you go out much?"
"Arthur does. Mary and I stay at home."

"That 1s unusual for a young girl."

"She is quiet. And she is not very young. She is twenty-four."

102



adl L Asdes S Jaadl 124

e e il o adiad LSS

Joads IS 130 ¢ 08 oY g adal aoadaind Le Jail el 1a] S8 ¢ 5l 8 2
*é]ljﬁa_a]alcq;JJu@ﬂulS|d‘euﬂm

bl @lia flisba Ja Dl 0S¢ oy o] ol (lida S 1Y)y sl
®tla gi (e SEER) Al Al e Ao pll i I3 Al 038 8 T30 Aagua

D g A Ol Qigee S Ly 4l () 4ils 2
eliidl e 1 Lliidla Lial S 1M daua Saay o Jadae e 13

K I DN
OUYT Ay el )Y Cand () 8l el 0 Y agd
' Pla L 1y slai Ja

i.ln‘)..:.“ _,i @‘uﬁhl#ﬂﬁiiﬁﬂ‘gjﬁulﬂi_‘}aw1 | 34 _)A.‘_,hd\j

(Ll jA ey el aNa Ui pe M Al je (e ela il o adiad Gl

103



"This business was a shock to her too."

"A ternibie shock!"

"And you both believe that your son is guilty?"
"I saw him with my own eyes with the crown in his hands."

"That does not really prove anything. Was the rest of the crown
damaged?"

"Yes, it was bent out of shape."

"Do you not think that perhaps he was trying to straighten it
again?"

"Mr. Holmes, thank you! You are doing what you can for him
and for me. But what was he doing there? If he had a good reason,

why did he not say so?"

"Exactly. And if he was guilty, why didn't he invent a lie? Why
did he keep silent? There are several puzzling points about this case.
What did the police think about the noise that woke you from your

sleep?"
"They thought it might be the sound of Arthur's bedroom door."

"That is not likely. He would not make a noise if he was a thief.
What did they say about the disappearance of the diamonds?"

"They are still checking under the floors and in the furniture.
"Have they looked outside?"

"Yes, they have examined the whole garden,"

"This matter, my dear sir," said Holmes, "is much more
complicated than you or the police believe.

"You think that your son came from his bedroom to your
dressing-room, opened your cupboard,
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took out your crown, broke off a small piece of it, went off to another
place, hid three of the thirty-nine diamonds, and then returned to the

dressing-room with the other thirty-six."

"But what else is possible?" said the banker. "If he 1s innocent,
why doesn't he explain?”

"It is our job to solve that," replied Holmes. "So now, Mr. Holder,
we will go to Streatham together and spend an hour looking a little

more closely at the details.”

My friend asked me to join them on the journey, which I very
much wanted to do. It seemed to me that the son, Arthur, must be
guilty, but Sherlock Holmes's judgement is almost always excellent.

"Holmes spoke very little on the way to Streatham. He sat with
his chin on his chest and his hat over his eyes, in deep thought Mr.
Holder appeared happy with the fresh hope that Holmes had given
him. He even talked to me about his business.

My friend only changed when we came in sight of Fairbank, the
home of the great banker. He sat up and studied the house with great
interest.

Fairbank was quite a large square house of white stone. A wide
carriageway led down through the snow-covered garden to a large
iron gate. On the right-hand side of this, there was a narrow path,
which led to the kitchen door. On the left a little road went to the back
of the house, where the horses were kept. This was a public road,
although it was not used much.

Holmes walked slowly all round the house, across the front, down

the narrow path, across the garden and into the little road. Mr. Holder
and I went into the dining-room, and waited by the fire until he

returned.

We were sitting there in silence when the door opened and a
young lady came in.
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She was a little above middle-height, with light hair and blue eyes,
though these were red with crying. Her face was very pale; even her
lips were bloodless.

He sat up and studied the house with great interest.
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As she came into the room, she seemed even more unhappy than
the baker had been that morning. She went straight to her uncle.

"You have given orders that Arthur should go free, haven't you?”
she asked.

"No, no, my girl. The police must be satisfied that he 1s not
guilty.”

"But I am sure he has done nothing."

"Why is he silent, if he is innocent?"
"Who knows? Perhaps he was angry that you thought he did 1t."

"How could I not think that, when he had the crown in his hand?”

"Oh, but he had only picked it up to look at it. Oh, believe me

when I say that he is innocent. It is so terrible to think of our dear
Arthur 1n prison!”

"I cannot free him until the diamonds are found, Mary! I have
brought a gentleman from London to help me."

"This gentleman?" she asked, looking at me.

"No. His friend. He wishes us to leave him alone. He is in the
road at the side of the house now."

"In the road? What can he hope to find there? Ah, this, I suppose,

is him," she said, as Holmes came into the room. "I hope, sir, that you
will prove my cousin Arthur's innocence."

"I share your opinion, and agree that we must prove it," Holmes

said. "I believe you are Miss Mary Holder. Can I ask you a question
or two?"

"Please do, sir, if it will help to solve the puzzle.”

"You heard nothing yourself last night?"
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"Nothing, until my uncle began to speak loudly.”

"You shut all the windows and doors the night before. Did you
lock all the windows?"

I'lYes- L

"Where they all locked this moming?"

H'Yes- "

"You have a servant who has a male friend? I think you said to
your uncle that she had been out to see him?"

"Yes, Lucy Parr. It is possible that she heard my uncle speak
about the crown.”

"You are suggesting that she went out to tell her friend, and that
the two of them planned to steal 1¢t."

"But," cried the banker, "I have told you that I saw Arthur with
the crown in his hands!"

"Wait, Mr. Holder. We must come back to that Miss Holder, did
you see this girl return by the kitchen door?”

"Yes, I went to check the door, and I met her coming in. I saw the
man, too, in the darkness."

"Do you know him?"

"Oh yes, he is the man who brings our vegetables. His name 1s
Francis Prosper.”

"He stood," said Holmes, "to the left of the door?"
"Yes, he did.”
"And he i1s a man with a wooden leg?"

Something like fear came into the young lady's eyes. "How do
you know that?" she asked.
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She smiled, but there was no answering smile in Holmes's thin face.

"I think I would like to go upstairs now," he said. "I shall
probably want to look at the outside of the house again. Perhaps I

shall look at the lower windows before I go up.”

He walked quickly round from one to the other, pausing only at
the large one, which looked from the hall to the little road at the side

of the house. He opened this and examined it very carefully. "Now we
shall go upstairs,"” he said a last.

The banker's dressing-room was quite small and contained only a

dressing-table, a long mirror and a grey carpet. There was also a
cupboard in the wall. Holmes went to this first and looked hard at the

lock.
"Which key was used to open 1t?" he asked.

"The one which my son spoke about - from the cupboard in the
sitting-room. "

"Do you have it here?"
"That 1s 1t on the dressing-table.”
Sherlock Holmes picked it up and opened the cupboard.

"It 1s a quiet lock," he said. "I am not surprised that 1t did not
wake you. This case, I suppose, contains the crown. We must have a

look at 1t."

He opened the case and took out the piece of jewellery. It was a
beautiful piece of work and the thirty-six stones were the finest I have
ever seen. At one side of the crown there was a bent and broken edge.
A point, with three diamonds, had been pulled off.

"Now, Mr. Holder," said Holmes, "here is the opposite point to
the one which has been lost. Can I ask you to break it off?"

The banker took a step back. "I would not dream of trying,”" he said.
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"Then I will." Holmes suddenly tried with all his strength to
break the point off, but with no result. "I can feel it move a little," he
said, "and I have very strong fingers. An ordinary man could not do it.

"Now, what do you think would happen if 1 did break it, Mr.
Holder? There would be a noise like a gunshot. Are you telling me
this happened a few feet from your bed, and that you heard nothing?"

"I don't know what to think."
"Ind your son have shoes on when you saw him?"

"He had nothing on except his trousers and shirt."

"Thank you. Well, I think we have had a lot of luck. It will be our
fault 1f we do not succeed in solving this case. With your permission,
Mr. Holder, I shall go outside again."

He went alone, explaining that extra footprints might make his
work more difficult. For an hour or more he was at work.

"I think Ihave now seen every thing, Mr. Holder,"” he said, when
he came back. "I shall now return to my rooms."

"But the diamonds, Mr. Holmes. Where are they?"

"I do not know."

"l shall never see them again," the banker cried, "And my son?
Can you give me any hope?”

"My opinion has not changed."

"Then what happened in this house last night?"

"It you can visit my Baker Street rooms tomorrow morning
between nine and ten, 1 shall try to make it clearer. Can I do anything
that 1s necessary to get the diamonds back? There must be no limit to
the money [ ¢an spend.”
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"I would give all my money to have them back,” the banker
replied.

"Very good. Goodbye - though it is possible that I may come here
again before evening.”

Part 2: T he Detective's Solution

Several times during our journey home, I tried to make my friend
tell me his thoughts about the case, but he always changed the subject,
and at last I stopped asking.

It was before three when we found ourselves in our rooms again.
Holmes hurried to his bedroom, but soon returned. He was dressed
like a man who might be looking for work, in an old coat and older

boots.

"I think that this will be all nght," he said, looking in the mirror
above the fireplace. "I am sorry that you cannot come with me, but |
do not think 1t would be wise. I hope to be back in a few hours.” He
cut some meat from the piece on the table made himself a sandwich,
put this into his pocket and left the room.

I had just finished my tea when he returned. He was looking very
satisfied and holding an old boot in his hand. He threw this down into
a corner and took a cup of tea.

"[ am going out again," he said.
"Where to?"

"Oh, the other side of London. Don't wait up for me."

"How are you doing?”

"Quite well. I have been out to Streatham, but I did not visit the
house.
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It is an interesting little problem and I am very glad that it came to me.
However, I must not sit here talking. I must change my clothes and

return to my normal appearance.”

His eyes were shining, and there was even a little color in his
normally pale face. He hurried upstairs, and a few minutes later I

heard the hall door close.

[ waited until midnight, but then I went to bed. I do not know
when he came in, but he was there at breakfast with a cup of coffee in

one hand and the newspaper in the other.

"Please excuse me, Watson," he said. "I started without you,
because Mr. Holder is coming quite early this morming."

"Yes. It is after nine now,” I answered, "and there is the sound of
the bell."

When the banker came in, I was shocked by the change 1n him.
His face looked quite thin and his hair seemed tc be whiter than
before, he walked 1n a slow, tired way that was even more painful
than the violence of his entry the morning before. He fell heavily into
the chair, which [ pushed forward for him.

"Only two days ago I was a very happy man," he said. "Now the
last years of my life will be lonely and unhappy. One bad thing
follows anoil-er - my niece Mary has left me."

"Left you?"

"Yes. Her bed this moming had not been slept in. her room was
empty, and there was a note for me on the hall table. I said last night
that I was sorry she didn't marry my boy. Perhaps I was wrong to say
that. This is her note:

120



c_).)'.llg..o

i 22 T 18 sm ST 5 Y T e o Uil o2
3G oo Yy o olls ¥ hie o 3 Y L G0 e 1
SO WA PLARY

gol—"

Plgmai i Ll bl € 3l an b (ddaadall ol (¢ jle duaii 13l

M by ecadl | G Can Ja Juail 9 A8 134 Jha el Gioay oF Y oY
lISLaL el (e Jifla ¢ 5ol ga

? ol ol 10 Caale ST jad g8 e g (Gl Canans S T

QL@J&‘J&EUJS&JEJ:JJJS]{:U;(_J

5 e adal

¢E_)_+.i...a31..§l$a tﬂhﬂ}iﬂﬁuu)ﬁuu‘)ﬂmcéjjﬁﬁujs:}utﬂb
on alilae Sl i eba da ol e e

YT A L (S8 Sl joae IS cdgay o el ) b it Byl
Glude COU g adll Had piia Lakdpr jal g caifa J jal o ey 4dia
Al Ao latally oleale

_wWIEUQAEJ_,H.SJIL.LH Sl ﬁud_,Lﬁ‘thH_,

raaml ag) 1t aal flede Cliaa et
DA A by s (pae AT e ol llin ; Jad g Sl G

12]



My dear uncle,

I feel that my actions are the cause of your trouble. I cannot

ever be happy again under your roof, so I must leave you. Do
not worry about my future, because that is arranged, and do

not search for me. In life or in death, I am your loving.

Mary

"What does she mean by that note, Mr. Holmes? Do you think
she might kill herself?"

"No, no, nothing like that. It is perhaps the best possible solution.
You are, Mr. Holder, coming to the end of your troubles."

"Ha! You have heard something, Mr. Holmes! You have learned
something! Where are the diamonds?"

"A thousand pounds each would not be too much to pay for
them?"

"I would pay ten."

"That would be unnecessary. Three thousand will be enough. And
there 1s a little reward, I think, Have you your chequebook? Here is a
pen.”

With a surprised look on his face, the banker wrote a cheque for
four thousand pounds. Holmes walked to his desk, took out a little
piece of gold with three diamonds in it, and threw it down on the
table.

With a cry of happiness, the banker picked up the broken piece
from the crown of diamonds.

"You have 1t?" he whispered. "I am saved! I am saved!"

"There is one other thing that you owe, Mr. Holder," said
Sherlock Holmes.
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"Owe?" The banker picked up the pen. "Name the amount, and 1
will pay 1t."

"No, it is not money that you owe. Your son is a very fine boy.
You should be proud of him, and you must now apologize to him."

"So Arthur did not take them.”
"I told you yesterday, and I repeat today, that he did not."

"You are sure of it! Then let us hurry to him. We shall tell him
that the truth has been found.”

"He knows it already, and I had an interview with him. He did not

want to tell me the story, so I told it to him. He had to agree that I was
right. He added the few details that were not clear to me. Your news

of this morning, however, may open his lips."

"Then please tell me what this mystery 1s about!"

"I will tell you, but first 1 must tell you something else. Sir
George Burnwell and your niece, Mary, have run away together."

"My Mary? Impossible!"

"It 1s, unfortunately, certain. You and your son did not know the
true character of this man. He is one of the most dangerous men in
England. He has lost large amounts of money on cards and horses. He
1s 2 man withc:it a heart.

"When he told your niece that he loved her, she believed him. She
did not know that he had said the same thing to a hundred women
before her. She saw him nearly every evening."

"I cannot and I will not believe it! Cried the banker, with a white
face. |

"l will tell you, then, what happened in your house that night.
When your niece thought you had gone to your room, she went
downstairs.
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She talked to her lover through the window, which looks into the little
road by the side of the house. He had stood there for a very long time,
so his footprints had pressed right through the snow.

"When he told your niece that he loved her, she believed him."
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"She told him about the crown, and he wanted it very much. |
have no doubt that she loved you, but he had a strong power over her.
She saw you coming downstairs again, so she closed the window
quickly and told you about the servant and her wooden-legged lover.

That was all perfectly true.

"Your boy, Arthur, went to bed after his interview with you, but
he slept badly because he was worried about money. In the middle of
the night he heard a soft step pass his door. He got up, looked out, and
was surprised to see his cousin walking very quietly along the

passage.

"He quickly put on some clothes and waited there in the dark to
watch. Very soon she came out of the room and, in the light of the
passage lamp, your son saw that she was carrying the crown in her
hands. She walked down the stairs and he waited behind the curtain
near your door. From there he could see everything that happened in
the hall below.

"He saw her quietly open the window, give the crown to someone
standing outside, and then close it and hurry back to her room.

"He realized immediately how bad this would be for you. He
rushed down the stairs, without his shoes, opened the window, jumped
out into the snow, and ran down the road. Sir George Burnwell tried
to get away, but Arthur caught him. There was a fight between them.
Your son pulled at one side of the crown and Sir George at the other.

“In the fight, your son hit Sir George and cut him over the eye.
Then something suddenly broke, and Arthur found the crown in his
hands. He rushed back, closed the window and went up to your
dressing-room. When you came in, he had just noticed that the crown
had been bent in the fight. He was trying to straighten it."

"Is 1t possible? whispered the banker.

"You then insulted him when he felt he deserved your warmest
thanks.

128



(ol Jadl ol o8 S 20 8 o jlag il 9 Aaial o iy o)) ki s aly
A7y Jadial 45K c4Ban.0]
S el C_}MUJ'EJJM1M|O;&;*!

25 Gl bl dia Jaiy of &l Cadle g 280 e G B & ki

(3 yudlae 4l g A |yl a8 Taa o 08 Ll 0S) cGaall “yaall A
_d_:_)c.aa:ﬁda:l_,'i'_).ql Qi'a'_,cé__l.h.dl :._'L.u..‘_,..ai‘grl t.uL;IlJ.:.c-;dL:-.:l,,l[Ul:-
Ads da )R oS da i o Jde Uosaal g dga e pxindl 5V

¢_1Lu=ﬂ JG‘E_}EH.IL\MJ!EJJLQMJL&J\} t'@yﬁﬁu‘@suﬁ
'L._IJ_...n.ﬂ‘;.:r.b\___IE ‘)_]'a':\.'l\ i.__L_l_fL;J\ d.;_).“ _,-J i.__l;k_-.u L_'ll:i.l:'l _}lj_, ti:!:_'i..n.c- t;‘..ﬁi
3 S il lia Cadje Leana g Laalall 0 5S5 8 Ll disa 4 Saalie |

&JL_,L!MALA!&.IJAJJL‘JJMJIubﬂiwﬁlujlu_)hﬁ

MJGMJ}MJAJJ\JY‘ QACJJJALMJ\.\Auls c.td‘g:i.l}:s‘

\Mulﬁcl_}m]‘g_iha_.}.\;wi".ﬁ{.ul_\ﬁ ‘L__udsg.!ﬂh).gd_a_}‘uhc_p)n
il GlS Sl da )l

‘.,_!_,hﬂﬁ)ﬁ?ldé_}]luﬂtu_.}hléj‘ﬂ)lsqjd_’Y|JLnj_,
-\-:J:-\_'n.\.id_'.i ,_5_)‘ LJ‘ Coadaid 130 cds jall U 3480 )01 uils uSL;}” (DR
J«.GLI.“ 22905 U‘“ _)LIY‘ |_, _):.Yl

PNl Ca Sy B bl A Y 555 0 AN A ) Dl
i Sad e gl Gaag Caay ol ual g ) e Slia Gaa a8l Ly Za ol

129



He could not tell you the truth without getting Mary into trouble. She
had done nothing to deserve it, but he kept her secret.”

"She was shocked when she saw the crown," cried Mr. Holder.
"Oh, my God! I have been a blind fool! And he asked me to let him
out for five minutes! The dear boy wanted to look for the missing

piece at the scene of the fight."

"When [ ammived at the house,” continued Holmes, "I went very
carefully round it and looked at the prints in the snow. I knew that no
snow had fallen since the evening before.

"l went along the narrow path, but too many people had walked
on it. Just beyond it, however, at the far side of the kitchen door, a
woman had stood and talked with a man. The round print on one side

showed that he had a wooden leg.

"She had to leave him quickly, because she had run back to the
door, leaving deep toe prints and light heel prints. Wooden-leg had
waited a little, and then had gone away. I thought at the time that this
might be the servant girl and her lover. I learned from you that it was.

"I then looked at the little road at the side of the house, and found
a long and interesting story written in the snow. There was a double
line of prints of a man wearing boots, and a second double line made
by a man with no shoes on his feet. [ was sure, from our conversation
in the morning, that this second man was your son.

"The first had walked both ways, but the other man had run
quickly. In some places his prints went over the prints of the boots, so
I could see that he had come after the other one. The prints led to the
hall window.

"Then 1 walked to the other end, down in the road. I saw where
Boots had tuned round. It seemed that there had been a fight. Finally,
I found some blood, and I knew that I was right.
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"Boots had then run down the road, and more blood showed that
he had been hurt. At the other end of the road, the snow had been

cleared, so I could not follow him.

"When [ entered the house, [ examined the hall window. I could
see at once that someone had gone out through it. I could also see the
print of a wet foot coming in.

"l was then beginning to understand what had happened. A man
had waited outside the window and someone has brought him the
crown. Your son had seen this and had followed the thief. They had
fought, and pulled at the crown. The strength of both of them had bent

If.

"Your son returned to the house with the crown, but had left a

piece with the other man. All this was clear. The questions now were:
Who was the other man? And who had brought him the crown?

"When you take away the impossible, you are left with the truth,
although the truth often seems very unlikely. I knew that you had not
brought the crown down, so it was your niece or Lucy Parr. But why
would your son take the blame for Lucy's actions?

"There was no possible reason. But his love for his cousin was an
excellent reason for keeping her secret. Iremembered that you had
seen her at that window. I also remembered that she was shocked
when she saw the crown in your son's hand. Then I was sure I was
right.

"And who could the other person be? A lover, of course. Who
else could make her forget her love for you? I knew that you did not
go out much, but one of your visitors was Sir George Burnwell. I had
heard of his behaviour with women. It seemed quite likely that he had
the diamonds.

"Well, I went to his house yesterday, dressed as a poor man. I

spoke to one of his servants and I learned that Sir George had been out
all the night before.

132



s Lol LIS calgy i N 45380 5 Aapail didal (ge Lo g ) Cy 230 o idd
Al ol afy) U

omal eluae 3l a8 sl 3kl L8 sl aals el ga sl JA

Aol ol )Y Caady cp el LS e i e a3 U (S Gl o
ela g4l Lac J s ¢« Jaolall dS.lAJ_).\.:J PRET :uﬂc-‘.,.-:dS_)S.vi sc.da]b
LS 3

Biihaie 55 G S8 & e g 8 G i A Y L Saypeang
Lo e YU Ll i 5y Al JS il agin call aplaelo uily 45 50al
Al e gl

aaly dS agia Gl s laalW e J peand) Euadaind ¢ 38 da g cd) el
g

Al e a il Cuady (all LAY 45 il g oA i &5 a5
Ha 3L dae p gy an lales

;___5'3_“ Ja O sic. QJLED{J'@;L@@;M‘EMJE'Y ol IS

Aisn S n gy | S e e (303 0 g 1 peaddl e JS
g laa pnSl a dlit jlea o a8 SN Sl aal o aaddind Y ¢ gam
OV g O ialed O aadeis ol jlga Vg (Fn Aaplie 23 0 Y Sl s

Prow Ly COV LT K S PR [POe-fipge = L;,_,ss‘_-,lc?_..u_.ml atiel + 3l g2 3
e (e i€ e Slale JUie W e S Gl Caad aabiiviy . agim g s

133



Finally, I bought a pair of his old shoes. I took them to Streatham, and
they were exactly the same size as the footprints.”

"I saw someone in the little road by the house yesterday evening,"”
said Mr. Holder.

"Yes, that was me. I knew who the criminal was, and I went to

see him. At first, of course, he denied everything. But when I told him
all the details, he picked up a heavy stick and came towards me.

"I pointed arevolver at his head before he could hit me. Then he
decided to be sensible. I told him that [ would give him a thousand
pounds for each of the diamonds. I also promised him that he would

hear nothing more about the matter.

"Oh no!" he said. "I have sold all three for six hundred pounds!”
He gave me the address of the man he had sold them to, After some
discussion, | managed to get the stones for a thousand pounds each.

“Then I visited your son Arthur and told him the good news. I
went to bed at two o'clock in the morning, after a really hard day's

work."

"A day which has saved England from great public shame!" said
the banker. He got up from his chair. "Sir, I cannot find the words to
thank you. Your skills are even greater than people say. And now I
must go and apologize to my dear boy. Your news about poor Mary
hurts me greatly. Not even your skill can tell me where she is now."

"I think we can be sure," replied Holmes, "that she is in the same
place as Sir George Burnwell. We can also be sure that she will soon
be punished enough.”
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